I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

The Superior Court erred in affirming the decision of the De
partment of Health suspending Dr. Besola's license. 

II. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Do Dr. Besola's convictions "relate to" his practice as a 
veterinarian under RCW 18.130.180(1) and (17)? (No) 

2. Did the Board of Governors and court err when it con
cluded the convictions "relate to" the practice of veter
inary medicine because in tits opinion the convictions 
"lower the standing of veterinary medicine in the pub
lic's eyes?" (Yes) 

3. Is there substantial evidence in the record to support 
the Board of Governors' Order? (No) 

4. Should this court award Dr. Besola attorney's fees and 
expenses under RAP 18.1 and RCW 4.84.350? (Yes) 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Factual and Procedural Background 

In April of 2009, police executed a search warrant at the resi-

dence where Dr. Besola resided with his roommate and discovered 

hundreds of pornographic DVDs, including two copies of one DVD 

that contained a clip of an unidentified adult female engaged in 

sexual conduct with a German shepherd dog. CABR 1034. 

On April 20, 2012, Dr. Besola was found guilty of one count of 

dealing in depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit con-

duct and one count of possession of depictions of a minor engaged 
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in sexually explicit conduct in Pierce County Superior Court Cause 

No. 09-1-03223-0. CABR 3. These convictions were appealed to 

Division 2 of the Washington State Court of Appeals. CABR 41. Dr. 

Besola was not charged with or found guilty of any crime related to 

the DVDs involving the dog. Division II of the Court of Appeals af

firmed Dr. Besola's convictions, and Dr. Besola petitioned for re

view of his case at the Supreme Court. 

On September 26, 2012, the Department of Health of the State 

of Washington (hereinafter "Department") issued a Statement of 

Charges alleging that Dr. Besola committed unprofessional conduct 

in violation of RCW 18.130.180(1) and (17) when Dr. Besola: (1) was 

convicted of dealing in depictions of a minor engaged in sexually 

explicit conduct; (2) was convicted of possession of depictions of a 

minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct; and (3) possessed a 

video depicting a German shepherd dog having sexual intercourse 

with a young woman. CABR 3-5. 

As a veterinarian, Dr. Besola's practice consists of: advertising 

his ability and/or willingness to or, in fact, diagnosing, prognosing, 

or treating diseases, deformities, defects, wounds, or injuries of an

imals; prescribing or administering drugs, medicines, or treatments 

to animals; performing operations, manipulations, or applying any 
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apparatus or appliance for cure, amelioration, correction or reduc

tion or modification of any animal disease, deformity, defect, 

wound or injury for hire, fee, compensation, or reward, promised, 

offered, expected, received, or accepted directly or indirectly; or 

performing manual procedures for the diagnosis of pregnancy, ste

rility, or infertility upon livestock; or implanting any electronic de

vice for the purpose of establishing or maintaining positive identifi

cation of animals. RCW 18.92.010. CABR 79. 

On January 14, 2013, Dr. Besola moved to dismiss the charges 

against him in this matter on the basis that his convictions related 

to child pornography had nothing to do with his practice as a veter

inarian and therefore did not constitute "unprofessional conduct" 

under RCW 18.130.180(1) and (17). CABR 77-94. 

On January 22, 2013, Dr. Besola filed a Motion to Strike Allega

tions From Statement of Charges or Other Relief requesting the 

presiding officer strike the language in the Statement of Charges 

referring to the dog video and to exclude all references to the dog 

video. CABR 250-268. Dr. Besola requested, in the alternative, 

that the presiding officer direct the government to file an Amended 

Statement of Charges omitting any charges referencing the video of 

the dog. CABR 250-251. Dr. Besola argued that any charges re-



garding the dog video would infringe upon Dr. Besola's First 

Amendment rights. CABR 260-268; 464-470; 482-491; 0703-0717. 

The Department alleged that Dr. Besola's convictions and con

duct amounted to moral turpitude and were related to the practice 

of Dr. Besola's profession under Haley v. Medical Disciplinary 

Board, 117 Wn.2d 729, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991) and In re Kindschi, 52 

Wn.2d 8,319 P.2d 828 (1958). CABR 290. 

On February 1, 2013, Dr. Besola filed a Motion for Summary 

Judgment in which he argued that the charges against him should 

be dismissed because he could not be punished for activity that is 

protected by the First Amendment and that there was no evidence 

that the conduct that was the basis of his convictions was related to 

his practice as a veterinarian. CABR 427-453. 

On February 19, 2013, the Health Law Judge issued an order 

denying Dr. Besola's motions to dismiss the charges, to strike the 

allegations, and for summary judgment. CABR 703-717. 

On June 11, 2013, a hearing was held regarding the allegations 

against Dr. Besola of unprofessional conduct. CABR 1032. 

The Department Board of Governors found that Dr. Besola's 

convictions were acts of unprofessional conduct and suspended Dr. 



Besola's license to practice indefinitely. CABR 1038, 1041. The 

Board of Governors explicitly stated that it was finding that Dr. Be

sola engaged in acts of unprofessional conduct based solely on Dr. 

Besola's alleged possession of and dealing in child pornography. 

CABR 1038, n. 2. The Board of Governors also explicitly stated that 

it did not consider the issue of Dr. Besola's alleged possession of a 

video of bestiality. CABR 1038, n. 2. 

Relying on Haley v. Medical Discipline Board, 117 Wn.2d 720, 

818 P.2d 1062 (1991), the Board of Governors held that Dr. Besola's 

"conduct is related to the practice of his profession because it low

ers the standing of the profession in the public's eyes. The public 

view of the professionalism of veterinarians is diminished when a 

veterinarian is guilty of possessing child pornography and dealing 

in child pornography." CABR 1038. 

Dr. Besola petitioned for judicial review of the Department's 

holding in King County Superior Court. CP 81-108. Dr. Besola also 

petitioned for a stay of the final agency order during the pendency 

of his criminal appeal. CP 1-78. 

King County Superior Court granted Dr. Besola's petition for a 

stay of the administrative proceedings pending the outcome of the 

criminal appeal (CP 109-111) but lifted the stay following the affir-
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mation of Dr. Besola's convictions by the Court of Appeals. CP 115. 

The Superior Court ultimately denied Dr. Besola's petition for judi

cial review and affirmed the finding of the Board of Governors, 

holding that Dr. Besola "failed to demonstrate a basis for reversal of 

the final agency order under RCW 34.05.570(3) of the Administra

tive Procedure Act." CP 113-114. 

Dr. Besola filed notice of appeal to this court. CP 117-121. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

RCW 34.05.510 et seq. establishes the exclusive means of judi

cial review of agency action. 

Judicial review of disputed issues of fact shall be conducted by 

the court without a jury and must be confined to the agency record 

for judicial review as defined by RCW 34.05.510 et seq., but may be 

supplemented by additional evidence taken pursuant RCW 

34.05.510 et seq. RCW 34.05.558. 

On judicial review of an agency action, the burden of demon

strating the invalidity of agency action is on the party asserting in

validity. RCW 34.05.570(1)(a). The validity of agency action is de

termined in accordance with the standards of review provided RCW 

34.05.510 et seq. as applied to the agency action at the time it was 

taken. RCW 34.05.570 (l)(b). In reviewing the agency action, the 

-6-



court "shall make a separate and distinct ruling on each material 

issue on which the court's decision is based" and "the court shall 

grant relief only if it determines that a person seeking judicial relief 

has been substantially prejudiced by the action complained of." 

RCW 34.05.570(1)(C), (d). 

Dr. Besola is appealing the Order entered by the Superior Court 

affirming the Department Board of Governors finding that he 

committed professional misconduct and that his criminal convic-

tions related to his practice of veterinary medicine. When a court 

reviews an agency order in an adjudicative proceeding, 

The court shall grant relief from an agency order in an 
adjudicative proceeding only if it determines that: 

(a) The order, or the statute or rule on which the order 
is based, is in violation of constitutional provisions 
on its face or as applied; 

(b) The order is outside the statutory authority or ju
risdiction of the agency conferred by any provision 
of law; 

(c) The agency has engaged in unlawful procedure or 
decision-making process, or has failed to follow a 
prescribed procedure; 

(d) The agency has erroneously interpreted or applied 
the law; 

(e) The order is not supported by evidence that is sub
stantial when viewed in light of the whole record 
before the court, which includes the agency record 



for judicial review, supplemented by any addition
al evidence received by the court under this chap
ter; 

CD The agency has not decided all Issues reqmrmg 
resolution by the agency; 

Cg) A motion for disqualification under RCW 
34.05-425 or 34.12.050 was made and was im
properly denied or, if no motion was made, facts 
are shown to support the grant of such a motion 
that were not known and were not reasonably dis
coverable by the challenging party at the appropri
ate time for making such a motion; 

Ch) The order is inconsistent with a rule of the agency 
unless the agency explains the inconsistency by 
stating facts and reasons to demonstrate a rational 
basis for inconsistency; or 

(i) The order is arbitrary or capricious. 

Dr. Besola's argument on appeal is that the Superior Court erred 

in affirming the Department's Order because the Department's Or-

der misinterprets the applicable law and is not supported by sub-

stantial evidence in the record. 

1. The Board of Governors erred when it found 
Dr. Besola's convictions "related to" Dr. Be
sola's veterinary practice under RCW 
18.130.180(1) and (17). 

The Board of Governors erred in finding that the fact of Dr. Be-

sola's convictions established that the actions underlying the con-
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victions were "related to" Dr. Besola's practice as a veterinarian. 

CABR 1036-1039. 

The Department charged Dr. Besola with unprofessional con-

duct in violation of RCW 18.130.180(1) and (17) which provides, in 

pertinent part: 

The following conduct, acts, or conditions consti
tute unprofessional conduct for any license holder 
under the jurisdiction of this chapter: 

The commission of any act involving moral turpi
tude, dishonesty, or corruption relating to the 
practice of the person's profession, whether the act 
constitutes a crime or not. If the act constitutes a 
crime, conviction in a criminal proceeding is not a 
condition precedent to disciplinary action. 

Upon such a conviction, however, the judgment 
and sentence is conclusive evidence at the ensuing 
disciplinary hearing of the guilt of the license 
holder of the crime described in the indictment or 
information, and of the person's violation of the 
statute on which it is based ... 

(17) Conviction of any gross misdemeanor or felo
ny relating to the practice of the person's profes
SIon. 

CABR3-5· 

Under RCW 18.130.180(1) the commission of any act of moral 

turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption relating to the practice of the 



person's profession is unprofessional conduct even if the act does 

not constitute a crime. Under RCW 18.130.180(1) conviction of a 

crime for an act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, or corrup-

tion relating to the person's practice of their profession is conclusive 

evidence at a disciplinary hearing of the guilt of that person of that 

crime. However, RCW 18.130.180(1) does not mandate that con-

viction of a crime is proof that the acts underlying the crime were 

related to the convicted person's practice. 

Similarly, under RCW 18.130.180(17) conviction of a misde-

meanor or gross misdemeanor related to the person's practice 

constitutes unprofessional conduct for which a professional can be 

disciplined. Again, as with RCW 18.130.180(1), nothing in RCW 

18.130.180(17) mandates that conviction of a crime is automatically 

proof that the conduct related to the person's profession. 

The Board of Governors incorrectly interpreted RCW 

18.130.180(1) and (17) when it found that the acts underlying Dr. 

Besola's convictions were related to his practice simply because he 

was convicted of them. 

2. The Board of Governors erred when it con
cluded the applicable legal test was whether 
the convictions lowered the standing of veter
inary medicine in the public's eyes. 
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The Board of Governors did not consider the video involving the 

dog in determining whether or not Dr. Besola had committed un

professional conduct. CABR 1038, n. 2. Further, the board did not 

consider Dr. Besola's testimony denying he committed the crimes 

because it found that his testimony was "trumped by the rule found 

in RCW 18.130.180(1) that a 'judgment and sentence is conclusive 

evidence at the ensuing disciplinary hearing of the guilt of the li

cense holder.'" CABR 1035. 

Instead, to establish that Dr. Besola's convictions for possession 

and distribution of child pornography were convictions for acts "re

lated to" his profession, the Board relied entirely upon the testimo

ny of one witness who testified: "children do come to veterinarian 

clinics along with their families." CABR 1033. Significantly, the 

witness had no personal knowledge of Dr. Besola's clinic. Citing this 

testimony and Haley v. Medical Disciplinary Board, 177 Wn.2d 

720, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991), the Board of Governors found that Dr. 

Besola's convictions were related to the practice of his profession 

because "it lowers the standing of the profession in the public's 

eyes. The public view of the professionalism of veterinarians is di

minished when a veterinarian is guilty of possessing child pornog

raphy and dealing in child pornography." CABR 1037-1038. 
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Contrary to the testimony relied on by the Board, Dr. Amelia Be

sola, Dr. Besola's sister and partner in his veterinary practice, testi

fied that her and her brother's clients are mostly aging baby boom

ers and that it was very rare for children to come into the office. 

CABR 1190-1191. Dr. Amelia Besola also testified that she saw 80% 

of the patients that came to their clinic. CABR 1190. 

The Board of Governors did not apply the correct test to deter

mine whether or not Dr. Besola's conduct "related to" his profes

sion. In Haley, the Washington State Medical Disciplinary Board 

imposed sanctions against Dr. Theodore Haley after ruling that his 

sexual relationship with a former teenage patient constituted un

professional conduct. Haley appealed and the Washington Su

preme Court affirmed the Board's decision. 

The Supreme Court agreed with the Board of Governor's deter

mination that Haley's extended sexual conduct with an underage 

former patient constituted unprofessional conduct under RCW 

18.130.180(1). In so agreeing, the Supreme Court held, "We con

strue the "related to" requirement as meaning that the conduct 

must indicate unfitness to bear the responsibilities of, and to enjoy 

the privileges of, the profession." Haley, 117 Wn.2d at 731,818 P.2d 

1062. 
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In explaining this "related to" standard, the Haley court dis-

cussed In re Kindschi, 52, Wn.2d 8, 319 P.2d 824 (1958), a case 

where a physician had his license suspended after he was convicted 

of tax fraud: 

The tax fraud was not related to the physician's diag
nosis, care, or treatment of any patient. We nonethe
less upheld the Board, and in doing so we took a 
broad view of the required relationship between the 
improper conduct and the practice of the profession. 
A medical disciplinary proceeding, we ex
plained, is taken for two purposes: to protect the pub
lic, and to protect the standing of the medical profes
sion in the eyes of the public. In re Kindschi, at 11, 
319 P.2d 824; cf In re McGrath, 98 Wn.2d 337, 345, 
655 P.2d 232 (1982) (identifying similar purposes in 
regard to disciplining attorneys). We stated that the 
due process and equal protection clauses of the Unit
ed States Constitution apply to disciplinary proceed
ings, and that no person may be prevented from prac
ticing a profession except for valid reasons. In re 
Kindschi, 52 Wn.2d at 11-12, 319 P.2d 824 (citing 
Schware v. Board of Bar Examiners of New Mexico, 
353 U.S. 232, 77 S. Ct. 752, 1 L.Ed.2d 796 (1957)). 
Conviction for tax fraud, we explained, is a valid rea
son to take disciplinary action against a physician: 

The public has a right to expect the 
highest degree of trustworthiness of the 
members of the medical profes
sion. We believe there is a rational con
nection between income tax fraud and 
one's fitness of character or trustwor
thiness to practice medicine, so 
that the legislature can properly make 
fraudulent conduct in such instances a 
ground for revoking or suspending the 
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license of a doctor. 

In re Kindschi, 52 Wn.2d at 12, 319 P.2d 824. Being 
convicted of tax fraud does not indicate any lack of 
competence in the technical skills needed to be a 
physician. Rather, it indicates a lack of the high de
gree of trustworthiness the public is entitled to expect 
from a physician. It raises a reasonable apprehen
sion that the physician might abuse the trust inher
ent in professional status, and it diminishes the pro
fession's standing in the public's eyes. Trust is essen
tial to ensure treatment will be accepted and advice 
followed. 

Haley, 117 Wn.2d at 731-732,818 P.2d 1062 (emphasis added). 

The Haley court ultimately held: 

In sum, Dr. Haley's conduct indicates unfitness to 
practice medicine in two ways: it raises concerns 
about his propensity to abuse his professional posi
tion, and it tends to harm the standing of the 
profession in the eyes of the public, which both 
lead to reasonable apprehension about the public wel
fare. Therefore, the Board properly concluded that Dr. 
Haley engaged in acts of unprofessional conduct un
der RCW 18.130.180(1). 

Haley, 117 Wn.2d at 736,818 P.2d 1062 (emphasis added). 

In reaching this conclusion, the Haley court noted it is only be-

cause physicians are responsible for maintaining the public health 

that the State could punish a physician for committing an act that 

impugns the integrity of the medical profession: 

It should be emphasized that the concerns with pro
tecting the integrity of the profession and protecting 
the public are not unrelated. Indeed, constitutional 
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constraints mandate that any state-imposed 
requirement for practicing a profession must 
be rationally related to a legitimate state in
terest .. . . The concern with protecting the medical 
profession, if viewed as a concern with preserving the 
interests of physicians themselves, is difficult to re
gard as a legitimate state interest or as rationally re
lated to fitness to practice medicine. As an interest of 
the state, however, preserving professionalism is 
not an end in itself. Rather, it is an instru
mental end pursued in order to serve the 
state's legitimate interest in promoting and 
protecting the public welfare. To perform their 
professional duties effectively, physicians must en
joy the trust and confidence of their patients. Con
duct that lowers the public's esteem for phy
sicians erodes that trust and confidence, and 
so undermines a necessary condition for the 
profession's execution of its vital role in pre
serving public health through medical treat
ment and advice. 

Haley, 117 Wn.2d at 733-734,818 P.2d 1062. 

It can be inferred from the above quoted passage that had Haley 

been a practitioner of some profession other than a physician re-

sponsible for preserving the public health, the Haley court would 

have found no legitimate state interest in protecting the profession-

alism of the profession such that the State could interfere with Ha-

ley's practice of his profession because Haley committed some act 

that lowered the standing of the profession in the eyes of the public. 

It is only because a lessening of the public's view of the integrity of 

physicians would arguably cause harm to the public welfare that 
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the Haley court adopted the rule that any act committed by a phy

sician, even if not in the course of the practice of his or her profes

sion, could be considered unprofessional conduct related to his or 

her profession under RCW 18.130.180. 

In finding that Haley's conduct was "related to" his profession 

because Haley's conduct lowered the esteem of the medical profes

sion in the eyes of the public, the Haley court created a rule of de

termining when a physician's conduct could be considered "relat

ed to" his or her profession. Haley did not, as claimed by the Board 

of Director's in their decision, establish a broad rule that any con

duct by any member of any profession would be considered "related 

to" that individual's profession simply because it lessened the view 

of that profession in the eyes of the public. Rather, Haley estab

lished a broader rule applicable only to physicians since physi

cians are critical to maintaining public health. Any action taken by 

a physician which might cause the public to lower its trust of physi

cians was "related to" that physician's practice of his or her profes

SIOn. In other words, the "lower the public's opinion" test for 

whether or not the conduct of a professional is related to the profes

sional's profession applies only to physicians due to the special sta

tus of physicians in our society. 
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As stated in Haley, the State has no interest in protecting the

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