72495-9

NO. 72495-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARK L. BESOLA,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, VETERINARY BOARD OF GOVENORS,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, VETERINARY BOARD OF GOVERNORS

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

COLIN B. CAYWOOD Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 40779 1125 Washington Street SE PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 586-2877

I. INTRODUCTION

Mark L. Besola, Appellant (Dr. Besola), is a veterinarian licensed to practice in Washington by the state Veterinary Board of Governors (Board). While he was licensed and actively practicing as a veterinarian, Dr. Besola was arrested, tried, convicted, and sentenced for two felonies: possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct, and dealing in depictions of such conduct. Based on these convictions, the Board charged Dr. Besola with unprofessional conduct and addressed the two key questions now at the heart of Dr. Besola's petition to this Court: do two felony convictions for possessing and dealing in child pornography rise to the level of moral turpitude and, if they do, do they relate to the practice of veterinary medicine?

The Board determined that Dr. Besola's criminal convictions and the conduct underlying the convictions—participating in the sexual exploitation of children—rose to the level of moral turpitude. Relying on *Haley v. Medical Disciplinary Bd.*, 117 Wn.2d' 720, 742-43, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991), and *In re Kindschi*, 52 Wn.2d 8, 319 P.2d 824 (1958), the Veterinary Board found Dr. Besola's conduct and resulting convictions related to the practice of veterinary medicine because the conduct upon which the convictions were based lowered the standing of the profession in the public's eyes. The Board based its decision upon the evidence

presented at Dr. Besola's hearing, coupled with the Board members' experience, competency, and specialized knowledge when evaluating that evidence.

This Court should affirm the Board's Final Order that Dr. Besola engaged in acts of unprofessional conduct that lower the standing of veterinary medicine in the public's eyes and thus are related to the practice of his profession.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR ON CROSS-APPEAL

Pursuant to RAP 5.1(d) and 5.2(f), the Board filed for cross review, seeking review of the acts of the superior court that, if repeated on remand, would result in error prejudicial to the Board. RAP 2.4(a). Following is the assignment of error on cross-appeal:

The superior court erred in granting Dr. Besola a stay of the Board's Final Order while this matter was pending on judicial review.

III. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND THE ISSUE ON CROSS-APPEAL

- 1. Did the Board of Veterinary Governors identify and apply the correct legal standard in determining that Dr. Besola's convictions for possession and distribution of child pornography and the conduct they described were related to the practice of veterinary medicine?
- 2. Are the Board's findings supported by substantial evidence in the administrative record?

- 3. RCW 34.05.550(3) requires a superior court to make specific findings, based on a sufficient evidentiary showing, before staying an order that affects the public health, safety, and welfare. May a superior court ignore those statutory requirements when staying such an order? (Issue on cross-review)
- 4. If Dr. Besola were to prevail on appeal, should this Court nevertheless deny his request for attorney fees and costs because the Board's action was substantially justified in law and fact?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Dr. Besola's Criminal Convictions

While licensed to practice veterinary medicine, Dr. Besola was convicted of one count of possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct and one count of dealing in depictions of such conduct. CABR 1034. Both crimes are class B felonies. *Id.* The Court sentenced Dr. Besola to 35 months in prison, followed by 36 months of community custody. *Id.* The Court ordered that Dr. Besola be prohibited from having any contact with minors during his term of community custody and required that he obtain a psychosexual evaluation, comply with any treatment recommendations from the evaluation, and register as a sex offender. *Id.* Dr. Besola appealed his criminal convictions. CABR 41.

¹ The Administrative Record is located at Clerk's Papers Sub. No. 20. As required by the clerk of the court in this matter, the Administrative Record will be referred to as "CABR" followed by the page in the record being referenced.

This Court affirmed Dr. Besola's two criminal convictions.² Dr. Besola petitioned for review before the Washington Supreme Court, which granted limited review as to the search warrant and "to convict" instructions. *See* Appellant's Supplemental Statement of Authorities dated November 6, 2014.

B. The Board of Veterinary Governors

Under RCW 18.92 and RCW 18.130, the Board is charged with the regulation and discipline of the veterinary profession. This grant of authority includes a directive to oversee the practice of veterinary medicine, including investigating and prosecuting acts of unprofessional conduct under the Uniform Disciplinary Act (UDA), RCW 18.130. RCW 18.92.030, .046. The UDA defines the acts that constitute unprofessional conduct by healthcare professionals, including veterinarians. RCW 18.130.040(2)(b)(xiv).

The Board is composed of seven members—five licensed veterinarians, one licensed veterinary technician, and one public member.

RCW 18.92.021(1). All disciplinary and investigative actions of the Board are subject to the UDA. RCW 18.92.046; RCW 18.130.050.

² CP at 220-265. (State v. Besola, noted at 181 Wn. App. 1013 (2014) (unpublished)). The Clerk's Papers will be referred to as "CP" followed by the page number being referenced.

Complaints of unprofessional conduct by veterinarians are received and investigated by Board investigators. RCW 18.130.080. Complaints are reviewed and approved for investigation by a panel of the Board's members. RCW 18.130.080(2); RCW 18.130.050(2), (18). Following investigation, if the panel determines that there is reason to believe misconduct has occurred, a Statement of Charges is filed and served on the respondent veterinarian. RCW 18.130.090. The charged veterinarian is entitled to a hearing conducted pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), RCW 34.05. RCW 18.130.100.

C. The Board's Administrative Proceedings in This Case

In September 2012, after the Board became aware of Dr. Besola's criminal convictions, it issued a Statement of Charges against Dr. Besola. CABR 3-5. The Board charged him with unprofessional conduct for alleged violations of RCW 18.130.180(1)³ and RCW 18.130.180(17).⁴ *Id*.

³ RCW 18.130.180(1) defines unprofessional conduct to include the following:

[&]quot;The commission of any act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption relating to the practice of the person's profession, whether the act constitutes a crime or not. If the act constitutes a crime, conviction in a criminal proceeding is not a condition precedent to disciplinary action. Upon such a conviction, however, the judgment and sentence is conclusive evidence at the ensuing disciplinary hearing of the guilt of the license holder of the crime described in the indictment or information, and of the person's violation of the statute on which it is based. . . .

⁴ RCW 18.130.180(17) defines unprofessional conduct to include "[c]onviction of any gross misdemeanor or felony relating to the practice of the person's profession. . . .

Dr. Besola requested a hearing, and the Board held a full evidentiary hearing in June 2013. CABR 1032. The panel of the Board that heard Dr. Besola's case was comprised of three licensed veterinarians. Id. At the hearing, the Board received and reviewed nine exhibits (CABR 1047-1102), and heard the testimony of Detective Kevin Johnson, Pierce County Sheriff's Office (CABR 1139-1151), and expert witness Jerry Pospisil, a licensed veterinarian (CABR 1151-1157). Dr. Besola testified on his own behalf (CABR 1201-1209) and presented the testimony of his sister, Amelia Besola, a licensed veterinarian (CABR 1189-1201), and psychologist Christmas Covell, Ph.D. (CABR 1158-1188).

The Board subsequently concluded that Dr. Besola committed unprofessional conduct as defined in RCW 18.130.180(1) and (17). CABR 1032-43. When considering the question of whether possessing and dealing in child pornography rises to the level of moral turpitude, the Board relied on the Washington Supreme Court's decisions in *Haley v. Medical Disciplinary Bd.*, 117 Wn.2d 720, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991), and *In re Kindschi*, 52 Wn.2d 8, 319 P.2d 824 (1958), to conclude that Dr. Besola's "conduct is related to the practice of his profession because it lowers the standing of the profession in the public's eyes. The public view of professionalism of veterinarians is diminished when a veterinarian is

guilty of possessing child pornography and dealing in child pornography." CABR 1037-38. Based on these findings and conclusions, the Board indefinitely suspended Dr. Besola's license and required that, prior to seeking reinstatement of his license, he provide satisfactory proof that he completed all prison and community custody requirements related to his criminal convictions, as well as undergo a psychosexual evaluation. CABR 1041.

D. Judicial Review in Superior Court

Dr. Besola sought judicial review of the Board's decision; he also moved for a stay of the Final Order, arguing the criminal convictions were likely to be overturned on appeal and his reputation would suffer irreparable damage because of the Board's order. CP 1-78; CP 81-108.⁵ In opposition, the Board argued that Dr. Besola failed to satisfy RCW 34.05.550(3)'s requirements for a stay of a final agency order.⁶ CP 122-48. Without reference to RCW 34.05.550(3) or making any of the statutorily required findings, the superior court granted the stay and ordered Dr. Besola's license immediately reinstated without restriction effective September 3, 2013. CP 109-11. The Board sought reconsideration of the stay, based on the superior court's failure to comply

⁶ The text of RCW 34.05.550(3) is provided below at page 27.

with RCW 34.05.550(3). CP 164-78. The superior court denied reconsideration without applying RCW 34.05.550(3) or making any of the statutorily required findings. CP 215-16.

The case was briefed and argued to the superior court on the merits of the Board's order. While the superior court's ruling on the judicial review was pending, the Board moved to lift the stay, based on this Court's decision affirming Dr. Besola's criminal convictions. CP 266-70. On September 12, 2014, the superior court issued orders lifting the stay and upholding the Board's Final Order. CP 113-15.

E. Appeal To This Court

Dr. Besola filed a timely appeal. CP 117-21. The Board timely filed its notice of cross-appeal, seeking review of the superior court decisions that stayed the Board's decision and denied reconsideration on the stay.

1. Dr. Besola's Motion For A Stay

A few days after filing his notice of appeal, Dr. Besola asked this Court to stay the Board's Final Order, which the Board opposed. On October 28, 2014, the Commissioner denied Dr. Besola's motion for a stay, ruling that he fails to satisfy the criteria for a stay under RCW 34.05.550(3). On November 5, 2014, Dr. Besola filed a motion to modify the Commissioner's ruling, which the Board opposed. That

motion appears to have been denied by the Chief Judge on January 26, 2015.

2. Dr. Besola's Motion To Strike The Board's Cross-Appeal

On October 15, 2014, Dr. Besola filed a motion to strike the Board's cross-appeal. That motion has been referred to the Court.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A conviction for possessing and distributing child pornography is a proper basis for suspending a veterinarian's license because this type of conviction relates to his practice under RCW 18.130.180(1) and (17). As such, the Board properly took action against Dr. Besola's license. The Board's Final Order is supported by substantial evidence in the administrative record, which the Board properly relied upon in making its decision, along with its own experience, competency, and specialized knowledge. The Court therefore should affirm the Board's Order and deny Dr. Besola attorney fees and costs under the Equal Access to Justice Act (EAJA), RCW 4.84.350.

On the cross-appeal issue, RCW 34.05.550(3) requires both that a party requesting a stay of the Board's orders make a showing and that the reviewing court make findings addressing each of the four criteria listed in RCW 34.05.550(3). When the superior court—not just once in this case,

but again on reconsideration—fails to do so, the stay should be set aside. Because that error is capable of repetition, this Court should find that the superior court erred in ordering the stay and hold that the superior court must find each of the four criteria under RCW 34.05.550(3) before a stay is ordered.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review Under The Administrative Procedure Act

The Court's review of the Board's Final Order is governed by the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), RCW 34.05. RCW 18.130.140; RCW 34.05.510. This Court sits in the same position as the superior court when reviewing the Board's decision. *Slayton v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 159 Wn. App. 121, 128, 244 P.3d 997, 1000 (2010).⁷

A party challenging the validity of an agency action bears the burden of demonstrating its invalidity. RCW 34.05.570(1)(a); *Lang v. Dep't of Health*, 138 Wn. App. 235, 243, 156 P.3d 919 (2007), *rev. denied*, 162 Wn.2d 1021 (2008). A reviewing court may reverse only if the person challenging the agency order establishes that the order is invalid for one of the reasons specifically enumerated in

While Dr. Besola's argument is phrased as an appeal of the superior court's order, substantively, it is the Board's Final Order—not the superior court's order affirming the Board's findings and conclusions—for which he is seeking review.

RCW 34.05.570(3). Brown v. State Dep't of Health, Dental Disciplinary Bd., 94 Wn. App. 7, 11, 972 P.2d 101 (1998), rev. denied, 138 Wn.2d 1010 (1999). Here, Dr. Besola argues that the Board has erroneously interpreted or applied the law and that its Final Order is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court, thereby invoking RCW 34.05.570(3)(d), (e). Aplt's Br. at 8.

1. Conclusions of Law are Reviewed De Novo

The Court reviews the Board's legal conclusions *de novo* under an error of law standard. *Haley*, 117 Wn.2d at 728, *Lang*, 138 Wn. App. at 243. Under that standard, courts grant substantial weight to an agency's interpretations of the statutes and rules it administers. *Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Pend Oreille Cy. v. Dep't of Ecology*, 146 Wn.2d 778, 790, 51 P.3d 744 (2002); *Tapper v. Employment Sec. Dep't*, 122 Wn.2d 397, 403, 858 P.2d 494 (1993); *Lang*, 138 Wn. App. at 243.

2. Findings of Fact Are Reviewed Under The Substantial Evidence Standard

The Board's findings of fact must be upheld if they are supported by substantial evidence in the record. RCW 34.05.570(3)(e). This standard is satisfied if the record contains evidence in sufficient amount to

persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the finding. Heinmiller v. Dep't of Health, 127 Wn.2d 595, 607, 903 P.2d 433 (1995), amended, 909 P.2d 1294 (1996), cert. denied, 518 U.S. 1006, 116 S. Ct. 2526, 135 L. Ed. 2d 1051 (1996); In re Electric Lightwave, Inc., 123 Wn.2d 530, 542-43, 869 P.2d 1045 (1994). The substantial evidence test is highly deferential to the administrative fact-finder: the same deference is afforded to the Board's factual findings as an appellate court would afford to a superior court's factual findings. Motley-Motley, Inc. v. State, 127 Wn. App. 62, 72, 110 P.3d 812 (2005) (citing King County v. Central Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 142 Wn.2d 543, 553, 14 P.3d 133 (2000), and Snohomish County v. Hinds, 61 Wn. App. 371, 378-79, 810 P.2d 84 (1991)). Whether conduct is unacceptable in a particular profession is a question of fact. Heinmiller, 127 Wn.2d at 805; Johnson v. Dep't of Health, 133 Wn. App. 403, 411, 136 P.3d 760 (2006). Unchallenged findings are treated as verities on appeal. Fuller v. Dep't of Empl. Sec., 52 Wn. App. 603, 606, 762 P.2d 367 (1988), review denied, 113 Wn.2d 1005 (1989).

B. The Board Applied the Correct Legal Standard From Haley v. Medical Disciplinary Board to Determine Whether Dr. Besola's Conduct and Convictions Are Related to the Practice of Veterinary Medicine